# IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

LLOYD DUEST, etc.,	)	
Appellant,	)	
vs.	)	CASE NO. 63,678
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	FILED
Appelles.	<b>,</b> )	SID J. WHITE DEC 15 1983
		CLERK, SUPREME COURT  By Chief Deputy Clerk

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

R. E. CONNER
Attorney for Appellant
410 N. W. 74th Avenue
Plantation, Florida 33317
(305) 583-8585

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 12, 1982 the Broward County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging that on February 15, 1982 Lloyd Duest a/k/a Robert Brigida (hereinafter referred to a Duest) committed 1st Degree Murder of one John Pope Jr. in violation of F.S. 784.03 (R-1701)(AA-1); Duest was arraigned in the Broward Circuit Court on May 14, 1982 and "stood mute", whereupon the Court entered "not guilty" plea in the Defendant's behalf. (R-1702)(AA-2).

Counsel for Duest then files the following motions and notices:

1.	Demand For Discovery (R-1709)(AA-3)	
	Answered by State:	(R-1711)(AA-5-7) (R-1714)(AA-9) (R-1715)(AA-10) (R-1718)(AA-11) (R-1719)(AA-12) (R-1757)(AA-45) (R-1758)(AA-46)
2.	Motion For Statement of Particulars Answered by State:	(R-1710)(AA-4) (R-1713)(AA-8)
3.	Motion To Dismiss	(R-1720)(AA-13) Denied 11/4/82
4.	Motion For Statement of Aggravating Circumstances	(R-1722)(AA-15) Denied 11/4/82
5.	Motion To Dismiss	(R-1725)(AA-18) Denied 11/4/82
6.	Motion To Preclude Sentencing under	F.S. 921.141 and 775.082 (1)

<ol> <li>Motion To Dismiss Indictment or To Declare Death not a Possible Penalty</li> <li>Motion For Individual Voir Dire etc.</li> <li>Demand for Discovery Relative To Sentencing</li> <li>Motion To Dismiss</li> </ol>	(R-1733)(A-25) Denied 11/4/82
9. Demand for Discovery Relative To Sentencing	
	(R-1735)(AA-27) Denied 11/4/82
10. Motion To Dismiss	(R-1737)(AA-29) Granted 11/4/82)
	(R-1739)(AA-31) Denied 11/4/82
ll. Motion To Dismiss	(R-1747)(AA-38) Denied 11/4/82
12. Notice of Alibi State Rebuttal	(R-1717)(AA-39) (R-1750)(AA-40)
13. Motion in Limine	(R-1751)(AA-41)
14. Motion to Strike Alias	(R-1753)(AA-43)
15. Motion To Withdraw/For Mistrial	(R-1758)(AA-47)

Jury Trial was held commencing March 7, 1983 through March 19. The Jury found Defendant Guilty of Murder in the First Degree on March 18, 1983 (R-1792)(AA-49) and Judgment of Guilt rendered thereon (R-1793)(AA-50). On March 19, 1983 the sentencing bifurcated phase of the trial took place and on that date a majority of the Jury, by a vote of 7 to 5 recommended the death penalty for Defendant (R-1802)(AA-53). A hearing was held thereon (R-1642) (AA-55) and the Court summarily denied all eleven (11) Defense Motions (R-1643)(AA-56).

Sentencing hearing was held by the Court on April 24, 1983. The Court found that Pursuant to F.S. 921.141 (3) as to Aggravating Circumstances 4 applied:

- B. "Previous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person".
- D/F. (combined) Engaged in committing or attempting to commit a Robbery" .... "committed for Pecuniary Gain".
- H. "Especially heinous atrocions and cruel".
- I. "Cold calculated and premeditated".
- 5 Aggravating Circumstances did not apply:
- A. "Committed while under Sentence of Imprisonment".
- C. "Knowingly created a great risk, of death to many persons".
- E. "Committed for purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape".
- G. "To disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any government function or the enforcement of laws".

The Court found that none of the 7 Statutory Mitigating Circumstances may be applied to the case (R-169)(AA-57) accordingly Pursuant to F.S. 775.082 (1) the Court pronounced the Death Sentence on the Defendant (R-1697) (R-1833)(AA-58)(AA-59). From this Judgment and Sentence timely notice of appeal was filed with this Court on May 11, 1983 (R-1837)(AA-63) Statement of Judicial Acts to be reviewed (R-1838)(AA-64).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael Francis Demizio testified that he met a "Guy" by the name of "Danny" on a bus bound to Florida from New York (R-642); he identified that person as the Defendant (R-647), who told him steals from gay people (R-648). After they arrived in Fort Lauderdale they met a man named "John" who gave them a place to stay at 607 Northeast 7th Avenue. (R-653). The Defendant was wearing a gray jogging suit (R-662) and that on Tuesday (R-665) the Defendant drove up in a brown Camaro with rags on the steering wheel and shifter and a box of jewelry on the floor (R-665). The Defendant left and came back walking about 45 minutes later and then left the premises (R-668). The witness identified the Defendant as the person he knew as "Danny" in open court (R-684). The witness further testified that he had an antique knife his parents had given him (R-674). The last time he saw the knife was Saturday evening (R-712) in the apartment.

Joanne Wioncek who lived at the Alfa Apartments in February of 1982 (R-929), testified that during the weekend of February 13th, Danny and Mike were visitors (R-930). On Monday about 3 o'clock in the afternoon (R-939 Danny arrived in a car with a gentleman, went into the closet, closed the door then turned around and walked out (R-940), with the gentleman whom she identified as the victim from State Exhibit #16. (R-942). At 4:30 or 5:00 o'clock Monday "Danny" came back to her apartment in a gold Camaro. (R-944), "he got his things and just 1eft" (R-947). The Witness identified Defendant as "Danny" (R-948).

Robert L. Harris testified that he knew the deceased had arranged to take a mutual friend to the Fort Lauderdale Holly-wood Airport on the afternoon of February 15, 1982 (R-544), that when he described the deceased (John) to the Bartender at Lefty's by telephone, he learned that the deceased had departed from Lefty's "with another person" (R-548). That Lefty's is "almost totally a gay bar". (R-549).

Neil O'Donnell, Bar Manager and Bartender at Lefty's Bar on the day of the crime (R-567), came into the bar, although not on duty and saw John Pope there about 2:30-3:00 in the afternoon; Mr. Pope met a man dressed in a jogging suit who left the bar with the deceased (R-576), The witness later identified a photograph of the Defendant (R-580), identified "Danny" as number four in a line-up held subsequently at BSO (R-583), and identified the Defendant in open court (R-586).

David William Shifflett, a roommate who lived with the deceased, testified that he came home to their residence about 6:30 P.M. on the day of the crime and found the deceased's 1980-81 gold Camaro not in the driveway, the front door unlocked, (R-484), lights on, stereo on loud, and a sliding glass door opened, his personal jewelry box on a table in the living room (R-485), bathroom door and light on in the deceased's bathroom (R-491). His friend Vicki Green was with him at the time and they went next door to call the Police.

Victoria Louise Green came to the deceased's residence about 8:00 P.M., confirmed Mr. Shifflett's testimony about unlocked doors, jewelry box and missing automobile (R-522); when they found the blood on the bed, they ran out of the house to a neighbors and called Police (R-533). The witness identified the deceased's missing automobile as a "gold, brownish gold Camaro" (R-535).

Deputy Edward Hellman, a Broward County Deputy Sheriff, was on duty on February 15, 1982 when he received a call to 6928 N. W. 34th Avenue, Fort Lauderdale. At the scene he found a nude white male on the bathroom floor in a pool of blood with several stab wounds (R-442). He determined the victim was John Edward Pope, Jr., about 63 years of age (R-444). He was accompanied by Deputy Halow. They turned the crime scene over to Detective Lauria and Robes who tried to take finger-print impressions, most of which (4 out of 5) were unsuitable for identification, no testimony was offered regarding the 5th print (R-471).

Robert Henry Parr of the Broward Sheriff's office (BSO) attached to the Forensic Services Division took photographs of the scene (R-451), dusted for fingerprints (R-468).

George T. Duncan, a Forensic Serologist for the Broward County Sheriff's Department Crime Laboratory, (R-862), was qualified as an expert in Forensic Serology (R-863), analyzed blood

samples taken from 6928 Northwest 34th Avenue (R-863) from pillow cases, bed sheets, wash cloth, shoes and David Shiffletts shirt and pants by luminol testing which indicates the possibility of the presence of blood (R-871). None of David's apparel (shoes, shirt or pants) showed traces of blood (R-865). The bed sheets and pillow cases were positive for blood (R-870) as to the washcloth which gave a positive reaction to the luminol test (R-870.

Ronald Robert Keith Wright, Chief Medical Examiner of Broward County was qualified as an expert in Forensic Pathology (R-902) testified that Mr. Pope "died of multiple stab wounds" (R-905) by a sharp instrument. . defined as "including pocket knives, butcher knives, paring knives .... " (R-907); "he, (the victim) was in full rigor mortis, meaning that he had completely stiffened up after death" (R-912), at the time of examination about 9:30 in the evening.. (R-913). The witness testified the victim had been dead at least 4 hours (R-913).

John F. Bowers, Jr., a bartender at Lefty's 1 Lounge (R-603) identified the victim as having been in the bar the Monday afternoon from a photograph shown him later (R-608) who had a beer with a man in a jogging suit, but the witness could not positively identify person number two (the Defendant) in the line-up as the Defendant (R-621).

Donna Roeschke testified she lived in Apartment C at 607 Northeast 7th Avenue. She met a man who introduced himself as "Danny" who wore a jogging suit and showed her a dagger shoved down in the waistband of his pants (R-735) around Sunday Valentine's Day (R-733). The witness later identified "Danny" as number four in a line-up in April, 1982 (R-743)

Tammy Jean Duncan testified she met Danny (R-807) in Fort Lauderdale in February, 1982 (R-806) on a Sunday, was in the same room with him at the Alpha Apartments (R-811), when he was wearing a gray sweatsuit and he had a tattoo and a scar (R-852). On Monday "Danny" told the witness he was going to a gay bar and roll a fag (R-813). "Danny" left and returned with an older man (R-814) in a gold Camaro, they stayed a few minutes and left; Danny later returned alone between four and five (R-815); the witness identified the Defendant as "Danny" (R-820).

Witness Dawn DeLuca testified that in February of 1982 she lived at 607 Northeast 7th Avenue, Fort Lauderdale (R-769. She further testified she met a man named "Danny" wearing a gray jogging suit, (R-771), with scars on his stomach (R-772) when he came to her apartment to thank her boy friend for helping him to clean up glass broken the night before during a party. (R-771). The last time she saw him he got out of a gold Camaro. This was on a Monday afternoon (R-773). This witness identified number four in a photograph of a line-up at BSO as Danny (R-776), and in open court (R-791).

Laura Sayles the Day Manager of the Downunder Restaurant (R-924) testified that Mike Demezio was an employee of the restaurant with the dates of his employment (R-925) from 2/15/82 (R-926) until June 10, 1982 (R-927)

Paul Perez-Cubas, a patrolman for the City of Fort Lauderdale Police Department, testified that during April of 1982 (R-835) he was dispatched to the Marlin Beach Hotel (R-836). He questioned a subject who identified himself as Robert Brigida (R-838) and the witness identified the Defendant as that person (R-839). Upon learning that the subject was to be held for questioning he transported the Defendant to the Broward County Courthouse where he turned him over to Detective Feltgen.

John William Feltgen, a homocide detective with the Broward Sheriff's office (R-874) interviewed the Defendant about 9 o'clock PM on April 18, 1982 (R-875).

Rene Robes, a detective with BSO testified he conducted a line-up in which the Defendant was placed on April 30, 1982 (R-986). In the line-up the suspect was in position number four, the Defendant was picked by Neil O'Donnell (R-990), Donna Platt Roeschke (R-991) and Mike Demezio (R-992); that the victim's motor vehicle was recovered from a parking lot at the Galleria Mall, Fort Lauderdale (R-995).

In defense to the charge by way of an alibi the Defendant presented witnesses who testified:

Nancy Duest (mother of the Defendant) (R-1192) last saw her son on Saturday February 13, in Watertown, Massachusetts (R-1195). However, she did not know his whereabouts for the following two days (R-1200).

The Defendant's father, Richard Paul Duest, testified he last saw his son on April 5, 1982 (R-1232) when the father took his son to the Trailways Bus Station in Boston. The last time father saw son prior to the departure was on February 15th, 1982, when the witness was cleaning his van (in Watertown) and the Defendant delivered to him a yellow sales slip from Suburban Auto Parts (R-1235).

Debra Duest (R-1018) (sister of the Defendant); Paul Richard
Duest (R-1078) (brother of the Defendant) Frank Duest

(Uncle of Defendant (R-1095); Mark Duest (R-1115) (Uncle of the
Defendant); Matthew C. Turner (R-1863) a friend; Diane Turner

(R-1887) (also a friend of Defendant); Eddie LaVache (R-1914)

(Debbie Duest's boyfriend), and Nancy Kerrigan (R-1992)

(Defendant's sister) all testified they saw the Defendant in
Watertown, Massachusetts on the 14th and/or 15th of February

(1982); (Debra Duest) (R-1022); (Paul Richard Duest) (R-1074);

(Frank Duest)(R-1096); (Mark Duest)(R-1116,17); (Nancy Duest, the
Defendant's mother testified she saw him in Watertown on Saturday

February 13th. (R-1195); Matthew C. Turner testified he saw "Lloyd" (the Defendant) on Valentines Day (February 14, 1982); this testimony was supported by his wife Diane Turner (R-1887); Eddie Lavache saw the Defendant on February 14th (R-1917) and 15th, 1982. (R-1918).

Witness Stephen Fralick, owner of an Auto Parts Store in Bellmount, Mass. testified he sold an automobile fan belt to Defendant on February 15, 1982 (R-1954).

In Rebuttal, William Richard Long identified the Defendant as someone he had seen in Lefty's Lounge on February 14, 1982 and on April 18th, 1982 at the Marlin Beach Hotel (R-1303) when the witness took the Defendant to his home with him (R-1309). The next time the witness saw the Defendant was on April 18, 1982 and he then called the Fort Lauderdale Police (R-1316). He identified the Defendant in open court (R-1318).

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING STATES WITNESSES RICHARD LONG AND EDWARD HEFFELMAN TO TESTIFY OVER OBJECTION BY APPELLANT'S COUNSEL.

Edward Heffelman had been contacted by the Fort Lauderdale Police February 18th (1982) shown a photograph of Appellant. gave Detective Lauria a name of the subject matter (R-1144), however the name of the prospective witness - while known to the State - was never included in any of the States Answers to Demand for Discovery (R-1711 & 1712), (R-1714), (R-1715), (R-1718), (R-1719), (R-1757) or (R-1758). Appellants Counsel objected strongly to the courts permitting the witness to testify (R-1146), (R-1153), however the witness was allowed to testify (R-1279) to the prejudice of the Appellant. The Prosecutor represented to the court that he (the Prosecutor) did not know the name of the witness until about the time the trial commenced (R-1148). In an attempt to avoid the consequences of failing to list this particular witness on the State's Answers to Discovery the Prosecutor elected not to use the witness in the case-in-chief, but brought the witness in as a rebuttal witness.

The State had a continuing duty to disclose. FLA. R. Crim.P. 3.220 (f). Evidently the Prosecutor did advise the Defense Counsel "within minutes" of learning it himself, of the witnesses identity.

The point is the investigating officer (Lauria) knew the identity of the witness and did not disclose it to the State, in violation of the Rights of Due Process in the Appellant. Compounding the problem was that Defense Counsel took Detective Lauria's deposition (not included in the record) however, no information was offered as to the potential witness, nor was the identity or possibility of a potential witness included in the Police reports. Whether the Prosecutor or the investigating officer withheld evidence of the identity of a witness is not relevant. What is relevant is that by withholding evidence possibly favorable to the accused on the guilt issue, Due Process was denied.

BRADY v. MARYLAND, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.215 (1963).

The same reasoning applies to the witness WILLIAM RICHARD LONG who testified as a States Rebuttal Witness (R-1301). It appears that Officer Perez-Cubas of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department knew Mr. Long's name - and in order to protect the witnesses identity - at the witnesses request, wrote on his report that he received his information from a confidential informant, however, the officer had the potential witnesses name and relayed it to the BSO (R-1163) even though there was some problem getting the witnesses correct name, Counsel objected to testimony from Mr. Long as being prejudicial to the Appellant (R-1168) because the State did

not provide the defense with any name for the witness until during the trial. (R-1169). This was also to the prejudice of Appellant. The investigating officers knew the true name of the witness as well as his address, but the State provided the wrong name (RICHARD LAUN - address presently unknown) to Defense Counsel (R-1757)(AA-45) when the officers knew the correct name.

#### POINT II

WERE THE APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO HAVE "THE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR HIS DEFENSE" ABROGATED BY COMMENTS MADE BY THE PROSECUTOR REGARDING DEFENSE COUNSEL DURING THE TRIAL? (R-763)(AA-66-69)

Appellant takes the position that the Court erred in its refusal to grant Motion for Mistrial (R-765) after Prosecutors comments about Defense Counsel.

On redirect examination of Donna Roeschke, the Prosecutor made a disparaging remark about Defense Counsel, who in turn Moved to Strike, which Motion was sustained by the Court. (R-764). Defense Counsel moved for a mistrial, which was denied by the Court (R-765). That while the Court cautioned the Prosecutor (outside the hearing of the Jury)(R-764) no cautionary instruction was given. In CARLILE v. STATE 129 FLA 860, 176 So862 (1937) this Court ordered new trial holding that prosecutorial comments precluded a fair trial for the Defendant. In this case Counsel gratuitously insulted Defense Counsel and while not a a remark made during Summation as in SIMPSON v. STATE 352 So.2d 125 (FLA 4 DCA 125(5). The test for preservation of Appellant's right to present this error was cited by this Court in CARLILE. The improper remark was not of such severity that it would require reversal without an objection. However, the improper remark warranted a rebuke or retraction for the Jury so that the sinister influence of the aspersion on Defense Counsel's ability could

be overcome. The Prosecutor's comment was similar to that that condemned by the Third District Court in <u>JACKSON v.</u>

<u>STATE 421 So.2d 15 (FLA 3DCA 1982)</u> wherein the Court held where the Trial Court had neither rebuked the Prosecutor or instructed the Jury to disregard the comments, the Defendants fundamental right to a fair trial could be upheld only by ordering a new trial.

On the Motion for Mistrial this Court said in <u>WILSON v. STATE</u>
436 So.2d 908 (FLA 1983) citing <u>SALVADORE v. STATE</u> 366 So2d
745 (FLA.1978), Cert. Denied 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177,
62 L.Ed. 2d 115 (1979), that the ruling on a Motion for
Mistrial is within the sound discretion of the Court, and
such Motion should only be granted in cases of absolute legal
necessity. <u>FLOWERS v. STATE</u> 351 So.2d 764 (FLA. 3DCA 1977).
However, the Court committed error and abused its discretion
by neither rebuking the Prosecutor or giving a curative instruction. This had the effect of violating Appellant's
Sixth Amendment right to have effective counsel for his
defense.

#### POINT III

HAVE THE DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OF THE APPELLATE BEEN INFRINGED BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT "DID THEN AND THERE UNLAWFULLY AND FELONIOUSLY AND FROM A PREMEDITATED DESIGN TO EFFECT THE DEATH OF ... JOHN POPE, JR."... (AA-1)(R 1701) AS CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT, WHERE THE COURT ALSO CHARGED THE JURY REGARDING FELONY MURDER (R-1768)(AA-48) WHEN DEFENDANT WAS CHARGED WITH PREMEDITATED MURDER.

The Court charged the Jury with the standard charge:

"Killing with premeditation" is killing after consciously deciding to do so. The decision must be present in the mind at the time of the killing. The law does not fix the exact period of time that must pass between the formation of the premeditated intent to kill and the killing. The period of time must be long enough to allow reflection by the Defendant. The premeditated intent to kill must be formed before the killing. (R-1767)(R-1510)

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