## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

LLOYD DUEST, etc.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 63,678



CLERK, SUPREME COURT Clerk Chief Deputy

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MARLYN J. ALTMAN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel For Appellee

###

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

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING STATE WITNESSES RICHARD LONG AND EDWARD HEFFELMAN TO TESTIFY OVER OBJECTION BY APPELLANT'S COUNSEL.

Appellant has objected to the trial court allowing the testimony of two rebuttal witnesses (Edward Heffelman and Richard Long). The record reflects that prior to trial, the prosecutor had not been aware of the existence of Edward Heffelman and that on the first or second day of trial, Detective Lauria informed the prosecutor that when the police were originally canvassing for witnesses, they showed the composite to an individual who thought the individual in the composite looked familiar. The prosecutor instructed the detective to look for him, and as soon as he was discovered, the court and defense counsel were notified (R. 1148, 560).

The record reflects that as to Mr. Long, the defense had been notified of the existence of such a witness through the State's reciprocal discovery, however, neither his correct name or address was available to the State (R. 1161). This individual was originally listed as a confidential informant by the police officer because he stated his desire to remain anonymous (R. 1162). After substantial difficulty, the State did locate Richard Long and both he and Edward Heffelman were deposed by defense counsel prior to their testimony (R. 1143).

Upon inquiry by the court, defense counsel conceded that there was no prejudice in any way other than the fact that

there was not full disclosure prior to trial (R. 1169-1170). The <u>Richardson</u> hearing (<u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971)) on the issue of disclosure was complete and is found on pages 1143-1171 of the record.

The by now well established rule is that :

If the State does not disclose the identity of a witness, as required by Rule 3.220(a) (1)(i), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, then the witness may not testify unless the court first conducts a hearing to determine whether the State's discovery violation was willful or inadvertant, whether the violation was trivial or substantial, and whether the violation has prejudiced the defendant's ability to properly prepare for trial. <u>Richardson</u>, <u>supra</u>.

<u>Haversham v. State</u>, 427 So. 2d 400 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). <u>Sub</u> <u>judice</u>, there was full disclosure as to why both State rebuttal witnesses were not thoroughly identified, including their whereabouts prior to trial. The significance of their testimony was explored as well as the impact on the defendant's ability to properly prepare for trial. Defense counsel had opportunity to speak with both witnesses prior to their testimony and conceded at trial that there was no prejudice to the Appellant other than the simple fact that the witnesses had not been fully disclosed prior to trial.

On the facts, the trial judge fully complied with the mandate of <u>Richardson</u>. There was no abuse of discretion in the decision of the trial judge to permit the two State rebuttal witnesses to testify.

## POINT II

THE APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO HAVE "THE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR HIS DEFENSE" WAS NOT ABROGATED BY COMMENTS MADE BY THE PROSECUTOR REGARDING DEFENSE COUNSEL DURING THE TRIAL.

A pertinent portion of the cross-examination of

State witness Donna Rosechke is excerpted below:

- Q Did you ever give a different answer to the question on how much time went by between when you met Danny and when you talked to the police other than three days? Do you remember ever giving a different answer?
- A I may have said three or four days.
- Q Do you remember ever giving a different answer than that?
- A No, I don't.
- Q Do you remember ever giving a deposition in my office back in July of 1982?
- A Yes.
- Q And do you remember being asked this question? Page 5, line 8.

"Question: Ok. And how long had he been gone or how long had it been since you had talked to him from the time you talked to him till the police talked to you?"

And your answer: "It was awhile, a few weeks, because it took, you know, I didn't know what they wanted at first."

"Question: So two weeks at least; maybe more?"

Your answer: "Maybe more."

"Question: Maybe more than that even?"

And your answer: "Yes."

Do you remember ever saying that?

- A Yes.
- Q Today you are saying its three days?
- A Three days they brought the picture around. It was about a few weeks before I came and gave my statement. (R. 746-747)

On redirect examination of the witness, the prosecutor attempted to have clarified that despite defense counsel's attempt at obfuscation, there really was no inconsistency in the witness' statement. The redirect examination which the defense objected to and which has been asserted as a ground for mistrial is excerpted below:

> Q And Mr. Baron attempted to-one of the ways he was saying did you give a different answer was when he said to you: It was weeks later, Donna. Didn't you say on this deposition in July, say that the police talked to you weeks later.

Do you remember that?

And he was saying that you contradicted yourself on the witness stand when you said it was really a few days later. And you clarified it regarding that it was a sketch a few days later.

- MR. BARON: Your honor, I'm going to object to Mr. Garfield. That's up to the jury to decide whether someone contradicted themselves.
- THE COURT: Objection sustained. Don't ask leading questions and we don't have problems.
- Q In relation to that, Donna, would you please look at your statement and tell us the date of the tape recorded statement to the police?

A The date is April 24th.

A April 24th. Is that weeks later than February?

A Yes, it is.

- Q So maybe Mr. Baron misunderstands you, doesn't he?
- MR. BARON: Objection, your honor. Move to strike.
- THE COURT: Sustained. Mr. Garfield, no comments. (R. 763-764).

Subsequently, the trial judge admonished the prosecutor for using leading questions, and the prosecutor apoligized for the error (R. 764). Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial without stating any reasons on the record (R. 765).

Initially, Appellee would point out that the prosecutor was not "gratuitously insulting" defense counsel as asserted in Appellant's brief but was attempting to rehabilitate the witness and show that there were in fact no discrepancies in her testimony.

In his brief, Appellant has conceded that the allegedly improper remarks were not of such severity as would require reversal without an objection. However, Appellant asserts that the improper remarks warranted a rebuke or retraction in front of the jury. Notably however, there was no request for a corrective instruction, and the only remedy which the Appellant sought was the granting of a mistrial. Further, it should be emphasized that while Appellant herein is asserting that the trial judge erred in not administering a corrective instruction, it is important to note that none was requested!

It is clear that the proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made, is to request an instruction from

the court that the jury disregard the remarks. <u>Ferguson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982); <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1982). It bears reiteration that a mistrial is appropriate only when the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. <u>Cobb v.</u> State, 376 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 1979).

Even assuming the impropriety of the comment, clearly, the comment cannot reasonably be held to warrant reversal of a conviction. There was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt in this case and certainly the single comment of the prosecutor alledged as error did not warrant the granting of a mistrial. <u>State v. Murray</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla., Case No. 63,364, Opinion filed January 12, 1984). It is clear, that on the facts of this case, Appellant has not carried his burden of demonstrating that the trial judge abused his discretion in denying his motion for mistrial.

#### POINT III

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF PREMEDITATED MURDER TO CONVICT APPELLANT AS CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT.

Appellant's brief has presented a convoluted issue. He is attempting to bolster his argument that there was insufficient evidence of premeditated murder with an argument that the jury was improperly charged with felony murder. However, there was ample proof of premeditation, the jury charge was correct on the law and in fact there was a basis for the felony murder charge and in any event the jury instruction issue was waived.

It is true that the State produced only circumstantial evidence. But, the jury could reasonsably have believed that evidence, rather than the testimony of Appellant's alibi witnesses. Circumstantial evidence must not only be consistent with the defendant's guilt, but must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. <u>Peek v. State</u>, 395 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1980), <u>cert. denied</u>, 451 U.S. 964 (1981). The State's evidence meets this test.

As noted in Appellant's brief, Michael Demizio testified that during the bus trip from New York City to Fort Lauderdale, Appellant told him that he steals from gay people by taking them back to their apartments, "beats them up and then steals from them." (Appellant's brief at page 17). Tammie Dugan testified to a conversation which she had with the Appellant on the morning of the murder in which the Appellant told her, he was "going out to roll a fag." (R. 813). Appellant

told her about not having any money, and said that he was going to go to a gay bar and pick up a guy and go home with him and steal his money (R. 813). He also told her on the previous day, that he had Michael's knife (R. 818). In fact, he had showed some sort of seven inch knife to another witness, Donna Roeschke, who testified that she met Appellant on Sunday, Valentine's Day, and saw the weapon shoved down in the waistband of his pants (R. 735).

Numerous witnesses testified to seeing the Appellant wearing a gray jogging suit both on Sunday and Monday. Neil O'Donnell, manager of Lefty's Bar identified the Appellant as the gentleman who left the bar on Monday afternoon with the victim (R. 580). Those facts were confirmed by another bartender (R. 614). The Appellant smoked Marlboro's and a pack of Marlboro's were found on the floor of the victim's bedroom (R. 494).

Michael Demizio then testified that when the Appellant returned late Monday afternoon to the residence where they were staying, he was driving a brown Camero which had a jewelry box on the floor of the passenger side which had a black exterior and a red interior. The Appellant had a rag on the shifter and a rag on the steering wheel. Appellant was still wearing the same gray jogging suit except now there was blood on the sleeve and on the collar (R. 665-671).

Tammi Dugan testified that mid-afternoon on Monday, the Appellant returned to the Alpha Apartments where they all had been staying, accompanied by an older man. They were

driving a gold Camero, stayed for a few minutes and then left. The Appellant returned again between four and five by himself, driving the Camero. It had been stipulated that a gold Camero found parked in the shopping mall on Sunrise Boulevard belonged to the victim.

Ronald Wright, Chief Medical Examiner testified that the victim had died from multiple stab wounds and that there had been eleven wounds in total found on the victim (R. 908).

In view of even this very cursory recitation of the evidence, it should be clear that there was overwhelming proof of Appellant's guilt of premeditated murder as charged in the indictment. Premeditation, like other factual circumstances, may be established by circumstantial evidence. Adams v. State, 412 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1982). In Alicea v. State, 392 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) that court found that the evidence examined as a whole established that (1) the victim was known to carry large sums of money, (2) the defendant was short of money and had been trying the night before to sell the gun used to inflict the fatal wounds to pay off gambling debts. From the foregoing, the court found that there was ample evidence to support premeditation. In the instant case, the Appellant had stated he gets his money by "rolling gay guys" and that he intended to do the same on the Monday that the victim was murdered. The Appellant was was seen with the victim at a gay bar immediately prior to

the murder and was subsequently seen in the victim's car with him. A short while later, he was seen driving the victim's car alone, a rag on the shifter and steering The victim's roomate testified that the victim's wheel. jewelry case had been stolen, and in fact, the case was seen in the car driven by Appellant. When the Appellant returned to the Alpha Apartments around four or five o'clock in the afternoon, witnesses testified that they saw blood stains on the sleeve of his jogging suit. The Appellant had gotten possession of a seven inch knife or dagger and the cause of death in this case was multiple stab wounds. In fact, the victim's sustained eleven such wounds. There can be no doubt but that there was sufficient circumstantial evidence to sustain Appellant's conviction of premeditated murder.

Appellant also claims that the court erred in instructing on felony murder. Not only did the evidence support the giving of such an instruction, but trial counsel failed to object to giving the felony-murder instruction. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) provides that instructions must be objected to at trial in order to be preserved for appeal. By failing to object to the instruction at trial, Appellant has waived this point on appeal, but had he objected, he would have lost on the merits. <u>Peavy v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla., Case No. 62,115, Opinion filed December 8, 1983).

Despite the fact that trial counsel waived any objection to a felony murder instruction, it is clear that the State

does not have to charge felony murder in the indictment but may prosecute the charge of first degree murder under a theory of felony murder when the indictment charges premeditated murder. <u>State v. Pinder</u>, 375 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 1979); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 1982). Further, in the instant case, there was evidence to support a conviction of felony murder.

## POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING INTRODUCTION OF STATE'S EXHIBIT #26 (A PHOTOGRAPH OF LYLE SALIN), OVER OB-JECTION.

The record reveals that trial counsel made a bare objection to the admission of the photograph without stateting any grounds on the record (R. 887). The motion for mistrial was directed to the witnesses' characterization of Lyle Salin as a transvestite, and not to the admission of the photograph (R. 884). Although defense counsel's objection to the photograph relies on his previously stated grounds, apparently that discussion was off the record, or at least is not included in the record on appeal so that this Court is unaware as to the basis for the objection or of the argument in support of admitting the photograph into evidence.

Based on the foregoing circumstances, the Appellant has not carried his burden of demonstrating that the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the photograph of Lyle Salin into evidence. The law is well established that admission of photographic evidence is within the trial court's discretion and that court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing of clear abuse. <u>Wilson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 436 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1983). Based on the paucity of of the record with regard to this issue, Appellant cannot demonstrate that the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the photograph of Lyle Salin.

Assuming arguendo, this Court finds that the photograph should not have been admitted, the admission of such evidence was harmless and did not unduly prejudice the Appellant's right to a fair trial. <u>Pritchett v. State</u>, 414 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). Evidentiary rulings do not constitute prejudicial errors where they concern non-essential matters and do not prevent defendants from presenting matters important to their defense. <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 264 So. 2d 69, 70 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1972). In the instant case, admission of the photograph was a matter collateral to the crime charged and error, if any, was not prejudicial to the substantial rights of Appellant. Palmes v. State, 397 So. 2d 648, 653 (Fla. 1981).

#### POINT V

THE SENTENCE OF DEATH SHOULD BE AFFIRMED WHERE THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT FOUR AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES APPLIED AND THAT THERE WERE NO MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

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